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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
FOR FRANKLIN COUNTY, OHIO 

 
 
KENNETH WOODSON, 
Grafton Correctional Institution 
2500 Avon Belden Rd. 
Grafton, OH 44044, 
 
and 
 
LEONARD EVANS, 
Marion Correctional Institution 
940 Marion-Williamsport Rd. E 
Marion, OH 43302, 
 
                   Plaintiffs, 

 

 
Case No.     
 
Judge     
 
 
Preliminary Relief Requested 

                              v.  
 

 

OHIO DEPARTMENT OF 
REHABILITATION AND CORRECTION 
4545 Fisher Road, Suite D 
Columbus, OH 43228, 
 
ANNETTE CHAMBERS-SMITH, Director 
of the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and 
Correction, in her official capacity 
4545 Fisher Road, Suite D 
Columbus, OH 43228, 
 
KEITH J. FOLEY, Warden of Grafton 
Correctional Institution, in his official 
capacity 
2500 Avon Belden Rd. 
Grafton, OH 44044, 
 
and  
 
LYNEAL WAINWRIGHT, Warden of 
Marion Correctional Institution, in his official 
capacity 
940 Marion-Williamsport Rd. E 
Marion, OH 43302 
 
                  Defendants. 
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, 
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

 
 

Plaintiffs Kenneth Woodson and Leonard Evans bring this action for declaratory and 

injunctive relief against Defendants the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction 

(“ODRC”), Annette Chambers-Smith, Keith J. Foley, Lyneal Wainwright (collectively, 

“Defendants”). In the alternative, Plaintiffs bring this action in the name of the State and request a 

writ of mandamus. Plaintiffs allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION AND NATURE OF THIS ACTION 

1. This case is a challenge under the equal protection clause of the Ohio Constitution 

to a discriminatory, illogical, and arbitrary policy under which ODRC, together with the wardens 

of Ohio prisons under ODRC’s direction, is garnishing and/or has garnished prisoners’ emergency 

COVID-19 relief funds to pay a variety of fines, fees, costs, and other debts to state agencies 

including to ODRC itself.    

2. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act was established 

by the federal government to provide economic assistance for Americans in the wake of the 

coronavirus pandemic.  The Ohio Attorney General has issued clear guidance that all Ohioans’ 

CARES Act relief funds are completely exempt from garnishment for any debts, public or private 

- with the sole exception of child support. Yet ODRC’s new policy limits the exemption for Ohio 

prisoners to $500,—, such that ODRC will seize the relief issued to a prisoner above $500 and 

subject it to garnishment.  

3. CARES Act relief is intended to alleviate the devastating economic impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic, the ripple effects of which will continue for years. Ohio prisoners, including 
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Plaintiffs, have been among the worst injured by the pandemic. They badly need this support, for 

example, to purchase basic necessities including food, medicine, and hygiene products from prison 

commissaries, and to communicate with and support their loved ones.  

4. ODRC’s policy denies Plaintiffs the equal protection of law, in violation of Article 

I, Section 2 of the Ohio Constitution, by irrationally treating people incarcerated in Ohio prisons 

differently from all other Ohioans. 

5. ODRC has already seized Plaintiffs’ relief checks. Upon information and belief, 

ODRC held these checks for weeks while it manufactured a basis, despite and contrary to the 

guidance of the Ohio Attorney General, to extract a portion of them. In late November 2020, 

ODRC instructed its wardens to make forms available to prisoners and to advise them that they 

could use these forms to claim limited exemptions within 14 days. In at least some instances, those 

forms were not distributed, or prisoners were told by prison staff that submitting them would be 

futile.  

6. ODRC and prison cashier staff began processing these relief checks and distributing 

them to their intended recipients—but only after initiating internal proceedings, pursuant to its 

own unlawful policy, to garnish these funds. ODRC’s policy has caused incorrect amounts to be 

withheld from prisoners all across the state, abridging Plaintiffs’ rights to equal protection under 

the law.  

7. Plaintiffs file this Complaint along with a Motion for Preliminary Injunction, 

seeking preliminary declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent ODRC and prison staff from 

wrongfully withholding prisoners’ relief funds. In the alternative, Plaintiffs seek a writ of 

mandamus directing Defendants to return the full balance of Plaintiffs’ funds and to reverse 

ODRC’s unlawful policy.  



4 
 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff Kenneth Woodson is an Ohio resident incarcerated at Grafton Correctional 

Institution, where his prisoner number is A770803. Mr. Woodson applied for, and was issued, 

relief under the CARES Act, but his check was intercepted and held by prison staff. Subsequently, 

$869 was extracted from Mr. Woodson’s check to pay for court costs, and only the remainder was 

deposited into his account. He does not owe any child support.  

9. Plaintiff Leonard Evans is an Ohio resident incarcerated at Marion Correctional 

Institution, where his prisoner number is A518639. Mr. Evans applied for and was issued CARES 

Act relief, but his check was intercepted by prison staff as well. Subsequently, just over $700 was 

extracted from his relief funds to pay for outstanding court costs and only the remainder was 

deposited into his account. Like Plaintiff Woodson, he does not owe any child support.  

10. Defendant Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction is the agency charged 

with supervising and operating the state’s prison system. Under R.C. 5120.133, ODRC is 

empowered to transmit funds held in prisoners’ accounts to courts for the payment of outstanding 

court fees, but it may not do so if those funds are “exempt from execution, garnishment, 

attachment, or sale” under any provision of law, including R.C. 2329.66. 

11. Defendant Annette Chambers-Smith is the director of ODRC. In that capacity, 

Defendant Chambers-Smith is responsible for ODRC’s operations and policies. The allegations 

made herein as to ODRC apply equally to Defendant Chambers-Smith. 

12. Defendant Keith J. Foley is the warden of Grafton Correctional Institution. In that 

capacity, Defendant Foley is responsible for operations at Grafton, including but not limited to 

carrying out the disposition of CARES Act relief payments to Plaintiff Woodson. 

13. Defendant Lyneal Wainwright is the warden of Marion Correctional Institution. In 
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that capacity, Defendant Wainwright is responsible for operations at Marion, including but not 

limited to carrying out the disposition of CARES Act relief payments to Plaintiff Evans. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action, including under 

R.C. 2721.02(A). 

15. Venue is proper in this Court because ODRC is located in Franklin County, has its 

principal place of business there, and has conducted activity there that gave rise to the claim to 

relief. See Civ.R. 3(C)(1)-(4). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

U.S. Congress Issues Emergency-Relief Checks to All Americans;  
Ohio Exempts These Funds from Garnishment 

16. On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 

and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), Pub. L. 116–136, 134 Stat. 281 (2020). Among other 

things, the CARES Act provided for emergency stimulus payments (Economic Impact Payments, 

here, “relief funds” or “relief checks” or similar) to eligible individuals nationwide. Eligible 

individuals were generally entitled to receive $1,200 in relief money. 

17. Ohio has an incarcerated population of approximately 44,000 people, fluctuating as 

people enter and exit the system daily. Upon information and belief, thousands—perhaps tens of 

thousands—of ODRC prisoners were eligible to receive relief funds. 

18. This economic relief is vitally important to Plaintiffs and others who have been 

incarcerated during the COVID-19 pandemic. Although ODRC provides baseline subsistence, 

Plaintiffs and other prisoners require funds to provide fully for their own food, hygiene, medicine, 

other basic necessities, and means of communication with loved ones, all of which must be 

purchased from the prison commissary. They are often forced to rely on family members, who 
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themselves may be in difficult financial circumstances as a result of the pandemic, for support. 

19. CARES Act relief was intended to “provide emergency assistance and health care 

response for individuals, families, and businesses affected by the 2020 coronavirus pandemic.”1  

20. The CARES Act protects these emergency stimulus funds from certain forms of 

federal debt collection, but it does not explicitly exempt them from other types of garnishment. 

21. To cure this “legislative oversight,” state attorneys general have clarified that the 

funds are exempt under state law.2 Ohio Attorney General Dave Yost has taken this position. 

22. The States noted the U.S. Treasury’s characterization of relief checks as “relief” 

that should be “exempt from garnishment, as similar government payments (such as social 

security, disability and veterans’ benefits) are.”3  

23. On April 13, 2020, Attorney General Yost issued public guidance clarifying Ohio 

law. He wrote: “The payments under the CARES Act are in the nature of emergency support, 

designed to support basic needs of tens of millions of Americans. . . . Although there is no explicit 

exemption for CARES Act payments under federal law, Ohio law protects them.”4  

24. Citing R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d), which protects “[a] payment in compensation for 

loss of future earnings of the person or an individual of whom the person is or was a dependent, to 

the extent reasonably necessary for the support of the debtor and any of the debtor’s dependents,” 

Attorney General Yost confirmed that the relief funds are fully exempt from all types of 

                                                           
1 See https://www.congress.gov/116/bills/hr748/BILLS-116hr748enr.pdf. 
2 See Apr. 13 Letter from 26 States to the U.S. Treasury, available at 
https://www.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/Files/Briefing-Room/News-Releases/04-13-20-multistate-
letter-to-Treasury-re-garnishm.aspx  
3 Id. 
4 Ohio Attorney General, Notice of Applicability of State Law Exemption to Payments Under the 
Federal CARES Act, https://www.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/Files/Briefing-Room/News-
Releases/STATE_LAW_EXEMPTION_FOR_WEB.aspx (“Ohio Revised Code 
2329.66(A)(12)(d) applies to payments under the CARES Act . . . .”) 
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garnishment other than for child support.5 He added that “the State of Ohio reserves the option of 

seeking intervention to enforce the state law exemption.”6 

25. Critically, Attorney General Yost’s guidance did not limit this exemption to any 

particular class of people, nor did it exclude any particular class of people. All Ohioans—including 

retirees, people who are unemployed, and people who have remained fully employed throughout 

the pandemic—have their CARES Act relief protected under Attorney General Yost’s guidance. 

26. Nothing in Attorney General Yost’s guidance, the similar positions of other States, 

or the CARES Act itself suggests any basis for prisoners to be treated differently than all other 

Ohioans under the law as it pertains to garnishment of CARES Act relief checks. 

ODRC Intercepts Prisoners’ Relief Money and Withholds It 

27. Most Americans began receiving their CARES Act relief checks in spring or 

summer 2020.  

28. Virtually all U.S. citizens and U.S. resident aliens were eligible for the payments, 

so long as they were not claimable as a dependent and their incomes were not above certain 

thresholds, regardless of their employment status, tax filer status, or other criteria.7  

29. Relief funds to incarcerated people nationwide, however, were delayed. On May 6, 

2020, on its official website, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) asserted, contrary to the 

CARES Act, that incarcerated people were ineligible for CARES Act relief checks.  

30. Following a federal class-action lawsuit and entry of an injunction requiring it to 

do so,8 the IRS issued notices in October 2020, to be distributed to prisoners nationwide, stating 

                                                           
5 Id. (“Ohio Revised Code 2329.66(A)(12)(d) applies to payments under the CARES Act . . . .”) 
6 Id. 
7 See Internal Revenue Service, Economic Impact Payment Information Center, Topic A, updated 
Oct. 26, 2020, https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/economic-impact-payment-information-center-
topic-a-eip-eligibility; see also 26 U.S.C. § 6428(a), (c).  
8 See Scholl v. Mnuchin, Case No. 20-cv-05309-PJH (N.D. Cal.). 
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that prisoners could indeed apply to receive relief funds. The deadline was November 4.  On its 

website, the IRS acknowledged that it “cannot deny a payment to someone who is incarcerated” 

so long as that person meets the general criteria.9   

31. Upon information and belief, when it learned that Ohio prisoners were entitled to 

receive CARES Act relief funds—and despite the State’s position that these funds were exempt 

from garnishment—ODRC began to devise a way to extract money from these checks to cover 

court fees, state and federal filing fees, and certain debts to ODRC itself such as medical fees and 

punitive fines. 

32. Upon information and belief, between approximately October 12–30, ODRC 

distributed notices to prisoners that they were eligible to apply for relief funds with a deadline of 

November 4. But even before that, on October 2, ODRC instructed prison wardens across the state 

to intercept the checks when they arrived, place them in a safe, and await further instructions. 

ODRC reiterated these instructions on October 15, advising wardens to wait “until further direction 

is received from legal.”  

33. Upon information and belief, the IRS began sending CARES Act relief funds 

payable to prisoners in October and November 2020. Those prisoners who had directed that their 

checks be mailed to non-incarcerated people, such as family members or individuals with financial 

power of attorney, had their checks delivered undisturbed. As for the rest, prison staff intercepted 

the relief checks and withheld them, as ODRC had instructed them to do.   

ODRC Enacts a Policy Arbitrarily Applying a Different Garnishment Exemption  
to Prisoners, Limiting the Protection Afforded Them 

34. R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d), the provision previously cited by Attorney General Yost 

as applicable to all Ohioans, provides a total exemption from garnishment for any purpose other 

                                                           
9 Internal Revenue Service, supra note 7.  
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than child support. There is, in other words, no dollar amount cap to the exemption. 

35. Instead of abiding by R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d) and the Attorney General’s direction, 

ODRC in late November 2020 arbitrarily enacted a policy that substitutes a different—and 

limited—exemption for prisoners. That provision, codified at R.C. 2329.66(A)(3), places a cap on 

the dollar amount of the exemption, allowing ODRC to garnish any amount above the cap for 

court-ordered collections and for debts to ODRC itself. 

36. On or about November 24, ODRC sent a directive to all wardens in the state, 

advising them that their staff would be receiving further instructions relating to the seized CARES 

Act relief checks, including instructions on “how to perform collections” under its new policy. 

37. To maximize the opportunity to extract funds, ODRC further instructed prison staff 

to refuse any prisoner’s request to have their CARES Act relief funds mailed to their families or 

attorneys, as “[d]oing so would allow them to subvert potential collections.”  

38. ODRC also instructed prison staff to distribute notices advising prisoners that they 

could “seek an exemption of $475 from court ordered collections.” ODRC later acknowledged that 

this number was wrong under even its own logic, and that $500 was the relevant amount.10  

39. In a Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) guide that it provided to prison staff in 

furtherance of its new policy, ODRC stated that an incarcerated person who is “scheduled for 

release” may be given their relief check, apparently without garnishment. Upon information and 

belief, ODRC has not set specific temporal limits on which prisoners’ release dates would qualify 

                                                           
10 Nothing in current Ohio law provides for a $475 capped exemption from garnishment. Rather, 
R.C. 2329.66(A)(3) has a cap that adjusts to the consumer price index (CPI). The current CPI-
adjusted cap is $500, not $475. Ohio Judicial Conference, Exemptions from Execution, 
Garnishment, Attachment, or Sale, available at 
http://www.ohiojudges.org/Document.ashx?DocGuid=a3fc30dd-e1fe-4d1d-b85f-9b3de8738710 
(accessed December 8, 2020). In correspondence, ODRC Counsel acknowledged that $500 was 
the appropriate amount. 
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them for this exception to the policy. 

40. Further carrying out its policy, on November 24, ODRC instructed all incarcerated 

people that it had begun “processing Economic Incentive Payment checks – stimulus money from 

the IRS” using three categories for processing: 

a. For people with no debt, ODRC would deposit relief funds in prisoner accounts the 

week following November 24. 

b. For people with child-support debt, ODRC would deposit relief funds that same 

week, and those funds would be subject to child-support garnishment. 

c. For people with other court-ordered debts, prisoners would receive ODRC’s  notice 

of “Court Order to Pay a Stated Obligation” form (DRC1598) and accompanying 

“Notice of Objection to Judgment for Payment” (DRC1599). They would not have 

their checks processed until they applied for an exemption from garnishment under 

ODRC’s garnishment policy and the application was ruled upon by ODRC’s 

“collection designee.” Pursuant to these forms and ODRC policy, prisoners were 

allotted 14 days to assert claims for any exemptions from garnishment, after which 

ODRC would begin processing relief checks pursuant to its policy. 

41. ODRC also told prisoners that they were not allowed to direct that their checks be 

mailed instead to their attorneys or to family members. 

42. Upon information and belief, ODRC collected all available money to pay debts to 

state agencies, including fines, fees, or costs owed to courts and fines owed to ORDC itself. 

43. Upon information and belief, on or about November 30, ODRC began distributing 

the seized CARES Act relief funds to the prisoners listed in Paragraphs 40(a) and (b) above.  

44. Despite ODRC’s instructions, at least some prisons, including Grafton and Marion, 
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did not distribute Forms DRC1598 and DRC1599 to all prisoners in category (c) of Paragraph 40 

above.  

45. Under ODRC’s unlawful policy, Ohio prisons applied the limited exemption of 

R.C. 2329.66(A)(3) to any such requests for exemption, instead of applying the unlimited 

exemption of R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d) that the Attorney General has deemed applicable to all 

Ohioans. 

46. ODRC and Ohio prisons, including Grafton and Marion, have thus been garnishing 

the CARES Act relief money due to every incarcerated person who has court-ordered debts or 

debts to ODRC itself—upon information and belief, at least thousands of people—and distributing 

that money wrongfully to local courts across the state, or keeping it for itself. 

47. In the meantime, while most Ohioans received their relief funds months ago, 

Plaintiffs and others in prison continue to be deprived of a significant portion of their federal relief 

funds.  

48. The infection and death rates from COVID-19 have been substantial across Ohio 

and especially in ODRC facilities. As the economic hardships of the pandemic left Plaintiffs’ 

families less able to provide support, Plaintiffs suffered from severe scarcity in food, medicine, 

basic hygiene products, access to correspondence, and other necessities. ODRC shut down all in-

person visitation in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, which created a greater need for 

prisoners to use paid communications services in order to speak with their loved ones.  

49. Moreover, although several prisons reduced their commissary prices beginning in 

the spring of 2020, by the summer they had raised those prices back to previous levels. Prison 
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commissaries—the sole, vital source for purchasing necessities—remain very expensive.11 At 

times Plaintiffs are forced to choose between, for example, purchasing hygiene products or 

purchasing the ability to communicate with their families. 

Plaintiffs’ Economic Impact Payments Have Been Wrongfully Garnished  
Under ODRC’s New Policy, Violating Their Right to Equal Protection 

50. Like many people incarcerated in Ohio prisons, Plaintiff Kenneth Woodson badly 

needs financial assistance. He receives $18 per month as a porter at Grafton, which he needs to 

pay for basic needs at the prison commissary. For example, prisoners at Grafton are routinely not 

fed enough calories and are still hungry. Plaintiff Woodson is no exception, and he often buys 

soup, rice, or coffee to supplement his diet, as well as vitamins to ensure nutrition. He also must 

buy basic hygiene supplies, such as soap and toothpaste, and must purchase phone time to talk to 

his family. See generally Exhibit 1 (Affidavit of Kenneth Woodson).  

51. He sometimes cannot pay for all the things he needs at the commissary. Frequently, 

he must choose between paying for phone time to talk to his family and paying for necessary 

hygiene supplies. 

52. Plaintiff Woodson’s family has struggled financially because of the COVID-19 

pandemic. Two of his three sisters were laid off and have had difficulty finding work as a result of 

the pandemic’s economic impact. Before they lost their jobs, his sisters were sometimes able to 

provide him financial support, but now they usually cannot afford to do so. 

53. In these dire circumstances, the emergency relief provided by the CARES Act is 

essential for Plaintiff Woodson. Accordingly, he timely applied, and a check was issued by the 

                                                           
11 For example, the current price of a tube of toothpaste at Grafton is $2.14, the price for an 80-
sheet notebook is $1.23, and the price for a 5-pack of disposable razors is $2.89. Markups for 
those items at the commissary, compared to comparable items at regular retailers can be 50% or 
greater.  
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federal government. As noted above, approximately $869 was taken out of his relief payment to 

satisfy court debt and only the remainder was deposited. 

54. Initially, it was not made clear to Plaintiff Woodson that he had the ability to request 

an exemption at all. At a town-hall meeting at Grafton, a deputy warden advised Plaintiff Woodson 

and others that any court costs owed would be taken out of their COVID-19 relief funds and that 

none of the funds would be exempt. Ultimately, Plaintiff Woodson learned that he was entitled to 

an exemption, and he obtained and the form and submitted it within 14 days, requesting a full 

exemption for all CARES relief funds. He also filed a grievance seeking the same relief.  

55. Both Plaintiff Woodson’s exemption request, and his grievance, were denied. He 

appealed his grievance, and his appeal was denied on March 4, 2021.  

56. Plaintiff Leonard Evans works as a laundry porter, making $22 a month that is 

easily exhausted at the prison commissary. He spends that money on healthcare and hygiene 

products, food, and phone time. See generally Exhibit 2 (Affidavit of Leonard Evans). 

57. Plaintiff Evans has a large family, some of whom used to visit him in person before 

COVID-19, but now cannot. As a result, he finds himself spending more money on phone time in 

order to keep in touch with his loved ones. His family’s working hours have been cut down during 

the COVID-19 pandemic, making it more difficult for them to provide money for him to call them. 

58. Plaintiff Evans contracted COVID-19 during the outbreak at Marion. He suffered 

from body aches, loss of taste, and vomiting. He still experiences respiratory symptoms, which he 

believes are exacerbated by the poor ventilation in his cell, as well as loss of appetite, cold sweats, 

and body aches. The commissary sells health-care products that he uses to treat his symptoms.  

59. Plaintiff Evans needs the emergency relief afforded under the CARES Act in order 

to pay for healthcare products, to purchase phone time, and to pay for an attorney to advise him on 
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challenging his incarceration, which he is currently doing pro se. Accordingly, he timely applied, 

and a check was issued by the federal government. 

60. In October or November 2020, Plaintiff Evans received a message from Marion 

staff stating that they were waiting from guidance from ODRC on what to do with his and others’ 

relief checks. Plaintiff Evans was not given a form to request an exemption and was left with the 

understanding that he should do nothing except to wait for further instruction. 

61. On December 14, Plaintiff Evans was told by Marion staff that the prison had his 

check but was holding it. He completed and submitted a request for exemption from garnishment, 

as well as a grievance objecting to ODRC’s policy. Nevertheless, more than $700 was garnished 

from his relief check, and his grievance was denied on December 30. He appealed that denial, and 

his appeal was denied on January 29, 2021.  

62. Both plaintiffs have exhausted their internal administrative remedies and now seek 

the court’s aid to vindicate their constitutional right to equal protection. See Exhibit 3 (grievance 

materials for Plaintiff Woodson); Exhibit 4 (grievance materials for Plaintiff Evans).  

COUNT ONE: DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
FOR VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION, OHIO CONST. ART. I § 2 

63. Plaintiffs incorporate all foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

64. Article I, Section 2 of the Ohio Constitution provides: “All political power is 

inherent in the people. Government is instituted for their equal protection and benefit . . . .”  

65. ODRC’s garnishment policy, as carried out by Defendants Foley and Wainwright, 

facially and intentionally discriminates, and has the effect of discriminating, against Plaintiffs and 

other people who are incarcerated by denying them the benefits of the full exemption from 

garnishment that is available to all other Ohioans under R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d). Instead, the 

policy affords Plaintiffs and other people who are incarcerated only the limited exemption 
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provided by R.C. 2329.66(A)(3). 

66. Plaintiffs, and others who are incarcerated, are in all relevant respects alike to—or 

even more in need than—those who are being afforded the more advantageous garnishment 

exemption of R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d), but are nonetheless being treated differently under ODRC’s 

policy, to their detriment. 

67. By Defendant ODRC’s enactment of its policy, and Defendants Foley and 

Wainwright’s execution of that policy, Defendants deny that Plaintiffs have a right to the same full 

garnishment exemption for relief funds as do other Ohioans to whom Plaintiffs are similarly 

situated in all relevant respects. 

68. Defendant ODRC’s policy is not rationally related to a legitimate government 

interest. There is no reasonable basis for its distinction between ODRC prisoners and all other 

Ohioans.  

69. Defendant ODRC’s policy violates the Equal Protection Clause of Article I, Section 

2 of the Ohio Constitution. 

70. There is a real and justiciable controversy between Plaintiffs and Defendants 

concerning Plaintiffs’ right to receive the benefits of the same garnishment exemption for relief 

funds as are received by all other Ohioans, to whom Plaintiffs are similarly situated in all relevant 

respects. 

71. The rights, status, and other legal obligations of Plaintiffs and Defendants are 

uncertain and insecure, and the entry of a declaratory judgment by this Court will terminate the 

uncertainty and controversy which has given rise to this proceeding. 

72. Immediate relief, including declaratory relief pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment 

Act, R.C. 2721.03, and injunctive relief pursuant to R.C. 2721.09, is necessary to preserve 
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Plaintiffs’ rights. 

73. Absent such relief, Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable injury from the violation of their 

constitutional rights to equal protection and lack an adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT TWO: WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

74. Plaintiffs incorporate all foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

75. In the alternative, a writ of mandamus is necessary to provide relief in this case if 

Plaintiffs have no plain and adequate remedy available to them in the ordinary course of law. 

76. Plaintiffs have a clear legal right to relief, as Defendants’ policy violates the Equal 

Protection Clause of Article I, Section 2 of the Ohio Constitution. 

77. Defendant ODRC has a clear legal duty to reverse implementation of its unlawful 

policy, and order all wrongfully garnished funds remitted to Plaintiffs. Defendants Foley and 

Wainwright have a clear legal duty to disburse to Plaintiffs the full amount of the emergency-relief 

payments issued to Plaintiffs by the federal government. Defendants have failed to perform their 

respective duties. 

78. In the absence of an adequate remedy at law, Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a 

writ of mandamus compelling Defendants Foley and Wainwright to perform their duties to 

disburse the remainder of Plaintiffs’ emergency-relief payments to Plaintiffs. See R.C. § 2731.01 

(“Mandamus is a writ … commanding the performance of an act which the law specially enjoins 

as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station”). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Woodson and Evans demand judgment in their favor and against 

Defendants as follows: 

1. A declaration by this Court that Defendants have, by their garnishment policy, violated 

Plaintiffs’ rights to equal protection under the Ohio Constitution, Article I, Section 2; 
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2. Entry of a preliminary injunction, and/or permanent injunction pursuant to R.C. 2721.03 

and 2721.09, requiring Defendants to cease and reverse implementation of their policy, 

including the processing of Ohio prisoners’ relief funds under the garnishment exemption 

of R.C. 2329.66(A)(3) rather than R.C. 2329.66(A)(12)(d); or, in the alternative, issuance 

of a writ of mandamus requiring Defendant ORDC to reverse its policy and to order all 

wrongfully garnished funds to be remitted to Plaintiffs, and Defendants to remit to 

Plaintiffs the balance of their emergency-relief funds.  

3. Award Plaintiffs their costs, expenses, and reasonable attorneys’ fees under applicable law; 

and 

4. Provide any further relief this Court deems just, necessary, or appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ David J. Carey   
David J. Carey  (0088787) 
ACLU of Ohio Foundation 
1108 City Park Avenue, Ste. 203 
Columbus, OH 43206 
Phone: (614) 586-1972 
Fax: (614) 586-1974 
dcarey@acluohio.org 

Elizabeth Bonham (0093733) 
Joseph Mead (0091903) 
Freda J. Levenson (0045916) 
ACLU of Ohio Foundation 
4506 Chester Avenue 
Cleveland, OH 44102 
Phone: (614) 586-1972 
Fax: (614) 586-1974 
ebonham@acluohio.org 
attyjmead@gmail.com 
flevenson@acluohio.org 

 
David A. Singleton (0074556) 
Mark A. Vander Laan (0013297) 
Michael L. Zuckerman (0097194) 
Ohio Justice & Policy Center 
215 East Ninth Street, Suite 601 
Cincinnati, OH 45202 
Phone: (513) 421-1108 
dsingleton@ohiojpc.org 
mvanderlaan@ohiojpc.org 
mzuckerman@ohiojpc.org 
 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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